102401-1

# FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 9/19/2023 4:05 PM No. 38790-9-III

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/20/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re:

MARINA WILCOX nka PALOMAREZ,

Respondent,

v.

MATTHEW WILCOX,

Petitioner.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Christopher Tait WSBA #6104 Tait Law Office 403 W Chestnut Avenue Yakima, WA 98902-3438 (509) 248-1346 Aaron P. Orheim WSBA #47670 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Petitioner Matthew Wilcox

####

#### A. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Until this case, the rule in Washington has long been that "a party seeking spousal maintenance must demonstrate a need for support." In re Marriage of Rouleau, 36 Wn. App. 129, 132, 672 P.2d 756 (1983) (citing, e.g., Morgan v. Morgan, 59 Wn.2d 639, 369 P.2d 516 (1962); Kelso v. Kelso, 75 Wn.2d 24, 448 P.2d 499 (1968)) (cleaned up). This makes sense because "the purpose of spousal maintenance is to support a spouse until that spouse is able to earn their own living or otherwise becomes selfsupporting." In re Marriage of Luckey, 73 Wn. App. 201, 209, 868 P.2d 189 (1994) (cleaned up). "It is not the policy of the law to place a permanent responsibility upon a divorced spouse to support a former spouse; that spouse is under an obligation to prepare themselves so that they might become self-supporting." Cleaver v. Cleaver, 10 Wn. App. 14, 20, 516 P.2d 508, 512 (1973) (cleaned up).<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This petition aims for gender neutral terms when quoting from case law. No deception is intended.

Division III ignored this well-developed body of common law. Instead, it hyper-focused on individual criteria for awarding spousal maintenance which it admitted set "a vague standard" for courts setting and reviewing maintenance awards. Amended op. at 18. It held that under that "vague standard," an award of \$556,000 over 11 years in spousal maintenance was within a trial court's discretion at the end of a frugal, middle-class marriage that lasted 20 years, even though the requesting spouse received significant assets, worked and was self-supporting, and documented no need for additional funds to support herself or enjoy the lifestyle the couple achieved during the marriage. It said that regardless of need, this award was appropriate because it "equalized the parties' income" going forward. Amended op. at 18. That standard conflicts with established precedent.

Review by this Court is needed to provide clarity and reaffirm decades of common law defining the parameters of what constitutes a just maintenance award under RCW 26.09.090 and the public policy of this State. Petitioner Matthew Wilcox asks

this Court to grant review of the decision designated in Part B of this petition.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division III of the Court of Appeals issued an opinion in Cause No. 38790-9-III on April 27, 2023, which it amended by order dated August 24, 2023. The slip opinion and order granting reconsideration are attached as an appendix.

#### C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is it still true in Washington that a court may only grant spousal maintenance to the extent necessary until that spouse is able to earn their own living or otherwise becomes self-supporting, or can a court simply use spousal maintenance as a tool to "equalize" divorcing spouses' long-term earning potential, regardless of need, regardless of assets already divided, and regardless of the standard the spouses enjoyed during the marriage?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Wilcox and Marina Palomarez<sup>2</sup> separated at the end of June 2015, after 20 years of marriage. Throughout their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> At various times in the record, the respondent's name is spelled "Palomares." This brief uses the spelling "Palomarez." No disrespect is intended either way.

marriage, they enjoyed a frugal, middle-class lifestyle, eating outside the home occasionally and taking "only one short vacation per year." CP 750. They owned a modest three-bedroom home in Yakima that the trial court valued at \$225,000 at the time of separation. CP 741.

Both spouses worked for nearly the entire marriage. For many years, Wilcox worked as a production manager for Graham Packaging, earning \$75,000 per year. CP 737. Palomarez took some time off from work when the kids were very young, but, for most of the marriage, she was "gainfully employed" at various data entry/receptionist jobs, earning over \$30,000 per year on average by the time the parties separated. CP 738. She is bilingual (English and Spanish). CP 738. After trial, the Honorable Douglas L. Federspiel found that her bilingual skills "provide[] her with a highly marketable skill set in the Yakima Valley (although she has made no apparent effort to market that skill to her financial advantage). Her future earnings should be higher if she actively pursues job opportunities with that unique skill set." CP 738.

In 2008, Wilcox changed careers when he got a chance to buy a sporting vehicle dealership in Yakima. CP 743. He took out loans to buy the business valued at \$400,000 at the time of sale. CP 743-46. He began drawing a modest salary as he worked to keep the business afloat; in 2014, the last full year of the marriage, Wilcox reported \$52,917 in business income and \$33,761 in wages. CP 780; Exs. 18-19, 53.3-53.5 (tax returns). \$250,000 worth of outstanding loans remained on the business when the parties separated. CP 747.3

The trial court split the community property valued around \$920,000, essentially 50/50. CP 83-89. Wilcox received the motorsport business, encumbered by the outstanding loans, while Palomarez received the house the couple lived in throughout the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> After separation, Wilcox managed to acquire a new franchise, leading to a significant jump in his business and personal revenue. CP 750. The trial court found in an undisturbed finding that this acquisition "only…became a 'real' opportunity as opposed to a future, hypothetical opportunity" after separation. CP 750.

marriage and its furnishings, a vehicle, the couple's investment account, and Wilcox's 401(k) retirement account from his time at Graham Packaging, valued at \$114,307, as well as his vested pension fund, from which she could begin withdrawing as early as 2022. CP 83-89. All of this was free of any community debt. Wilcox was also ordered to pay Palomarez's attorney fees to the tune of \$77,219. CP 88.

For spousal maintenance, the trial court initially awarded Palomarez \$1,000 a month until year-end 2022, just under four years. CP 87, 750-51. At that time, she could begin withdrawing pension funds and would have time to "seek out new employment either as a court reporter, or leveraging her bilingual skills which, in the Court's opinion, should reasonably increase her income sufficient for her to be self-sufficient." CP 87, 751.

Palomarez had minimal need for support; she documented that her monthly expenses, around \$3,000 per month, would be \$295 more than her monthly income. CP 764-69. Judge

Federspiel wrote that "given the fact that she remains in the family home with no mortgage payment, a car with no car payment, and the resources and income available to her, she should be in a position to maintain or exceed the parties' prior standard of living for a reasonable period of time and become self-supporting." CP 751. (emphasis added).<sup>4</sup>

This is the second time this case was appealed. In the first appeal, Division III ruled that the trial court erred in calculating Wilcox's income for purposes of spousal support. *Palomarez v. Wilcox*, 15 Wn. App. 2d 187, 475 P.3d 512 (2020). It remanded to reconsider whether he should have been attributed more income because he maintained cash in the business to ensure its liquidity. *Id.* at 191-95. Division III remanded to recalculate the property division and spousal support.

On remand to the trial court, the case was assigned to a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Notably for its entire ruling the trial court found Wilcox to be a credible witness, but it "had significant doubts regarding the credibility of [Palomarez's] testimony." CP 737.

new judicial officer, the Honorable Judge Elizabeth Tutsch, and set for a one-day trial. CP 142, 150. Wilcox asked for a chance to show that Palomarez's need for maintenance had decreased as the assets she received had grown in value since the first trial, increasing her net worth. CP 148-49, 152-57. The house and financial accounts she received had skyrocketed in value since separation in 2015 when they were valued for the divorce, *id.*, but the trial court denied Wilcox's request, struck the trial date, and refused to consider any new evidence. CP 160.

Thus, armed with no additional evidence or testimony, only instructions to reconsider Wilcox's income and recalculate the property division and maintenance award, the trial court ordered essentially the same property division where Wilcox received the business and Palomarez received nearly everything else, debt free, ensuring a 50/50 split of the \$920,000 community by requiring Wilcox to make a \$40,249.50 transfer payment. CP 834, 860.

For spousal support, the trial court "conclude[d] the 2017

gross income attributable to the husband for purposes of determining spousal support is estimated at \$156,000," even though the parties separated two years before 2017, at which time he had historically made substantially less. CP 781.

Even though Palomarez made around \$2,700 and had monthly expenses of \$3,000, the trial court ordered spousal support to be \$4,000 per month beginning in April 2021 until she turns 65 in November 2032, or 11 years. CP 862. That is \$556,000 in spousal support over 11 years after a frugal marriage where the community only amassed \$920,000 in assets over a 20-year marriage, where the requesting spouse documented little to no need for maintenance. CP 783, 862.

In entering this award, the trial court made *no findings* about her need or whether this support was necessary to enjoy the lifestyle achieved during the marriage, it merely listed the assets it awarded her and that her employable salary was "\$30,000." CP 868-69. None of these findings purported to show that she needed any financial assistance, especially not to

the tune of \$4,000 per month, where her income was growing and her monthly expenses fell just \$295 short of her current income. *Id.* Nor did the trial court make findings about why she needed 11 additional years of maintenance, even though she had received temporary support since 2015. *Id.*<sup>5</sup>

After denying Wilcox's objections and post-decision motions, save for a few accounting errors, CP 833-34, the trial court entered final orders and Wilcox timely appealed. CP 835-

The trial court apportioned Ms. Palomarez the family home (at trial it was unencumbered by debt), a 401(k) retirement plan, a SERS Plan 3 State of Washington retirement plan, and a reliable vehicle. Ms. Palomarez had no other separate property. He[r] employable salary is \$30,000 annually.

CP 868-69. This finding was not even accurate; Palomarez's self-reported income from her steady job at Costco had increased to \$34,089.12 per year by the time the case was remanded. CP 765. Judge Tutsch also omitted the fact that her income also included "benefits" as Judge Federspiel observed, CP 868-69, unlike Wilcox who was self-employed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The complete text of the trial court's findings on "need" is as follows:

36, 864-65.

Division III affirmed, blessing a \$556,000 spousal maintenance award without any showing that the maintenance was necessary to support the requesting spouse, who worked and supported herself, or that it was necessary to enjoy the lifestyle the couple enjoyed during the marriage. The Court stated:

We might have set the spousal maintenance amount lower and the duration shorter if we sat as the trial court. Nevertheless, we owe the dissolution court discretion in determining a just award, admittedly a vague standard of review. We conclude that the court established an amount within its bandwidth of discretion.

Amended op. at 18. The Court acknowledged that she would receive spousal support that was "significantly higher than [her] bar needs" the spousal support "equalized the parties' income" over the next 11 years until approximate retirement age. Amended op. at 18.

Wilcox moved for reconsideration, which Division III granted in part, issuing an order amending its opinion to correct

factual errors. He also moved for publication which Division III denied.

This timely petition follows.

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

(1) <u>Division III's Opinion Creates Conflict with</u>
<u>Established Precedent, Going as Far as to Limit</u>
<u>This Court's Holdings Which Other Divisions</u>
<u>Recognize as Binding Authority</u>

Division III erred in concluding that \$556,000 of spousal maintenance at the end of a frugal middle-class marriage is appropriate without a showing of need, but it got one thing correct: the standards for spousal maintenance are "vague." Standards are so vague and the law is so convoluted that Division III condoned this outlier award that conflicts with existing precedent. Review by this Court is needed to provide guidance to correct these conflicts and provide guidance to litigants across the state. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

"Spousal maintenance is not a matter of right." *In re Marriage of Foley*, 84 Wn. App. 839, 845, 930 P.2d 929 (1997);

accord In re Marriage of Luckey, 73 Wn. App. 201, 209, 868 P.2d 189 (1994). Rather, RCW 26.09.090(1), provides that a trial court "may" order maintenance. But such maintenance may be awarded only "in such amounts and for such periods of time as the court deems just, without regard to misconduct, after considering all relevant factors." RCW 26.09.090(1). The statute provides a nonexclusive list of such factors for evaluating whether maintenance is just:

- (a) The financial resources of the party seeking maintenance, including separate or community property apportioned to him or her, and his or her ability to meet his or her needs independently, including the extent to which a provision for support of a child living with the party includes a sum for that party;
- (b) The time necessary to acquire sufficient education or training to enable the party seeking maintenance to find employment appropriate to his or her skill, interests, style of life, and other attendant circumstances:
- (c) The standard of living established during the marriage or domestic partnership;
- (d) The duration of the marriage or domestic partnership;

- (e) The age, physical and emotional condition, and financial obligations of the spouse or domestic partner seeking maintenance; and
- (f) The ability of the spouse or domestic partner from whom maintenance is sought to meet his or her needs and financial obligations while meeting those of the spouse or domestic partner seeking maintenance.

RCW 26.09.090(1)(a)-(f). Again, the goal of these factors is to arrive at an award that is "just." RCW 26.09.090.

As is their duty, our courts have interpreted this statute and set common law parameters on what constitutes a "just" maintenance award in Washington. A court must have in mind that "[t]he purpose of spousal maintenance is to support a spouse...until [that spouse] is able to earn [their] own living or otherwise becomes self-supporting." *In re Marriage of Luckey*, 73 Wn. App. 201, 209, 868 P.2d 189 (1994). Thus, "a party seeking maintenance must demonstrate a need for support." *In re Marriage of Rouleau*, 36 Wn. App. 129, 132, 672 P.2d 756 (1983) (citing, *e.g.*, *Morgan v. Morgan*, 59 Wn.2d 639, 369 P.2d

516 (1962); *Kelso v. Kelso*, 75 Wn.2d 24, 448 P.2d 499 (1968)). "The reasons for this policy include the valid goals of disentangling the divorcing spouses and setting each on a road to self-sufficiency." *In re Marriage of Bulicek*, 59 Wn. App. 630, 634, 800 P.2d 394 (1990).

"Need" in this context can mean essentials of living as well as the need to maintain a lifestyle enjoyed during the marriage for an appropriate time before the requesting spouse becomes self-supporting. *See In re of Marriage of Kaplan*, 4 Wn. App. 2d 466, 482, 421 P.3d 1046 (2018) (\$10,000 in maintenance was justified for six years because the requesting spouse needed to support the daughters' education expenses and pay off the mortgage on the couple's million-dollar Montlake home).

Despite Division III's opinion here, courts across Washington have reiterated the public policy that "Unless there is need there should be no [spousal maintenance]. That is the public policy in this state." *Kelso*, 75 Wn.2d at 27. This public

policy was well-developed by this Court before the Marital Dissolution Act of 1973.<sup>6</sup> And courts continue to cite it as the guiding principle when determining a just maintenance award under the modern version of RCW 26.09.090(1).<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Endres v. Endres, 62 Wn.2d 55, 380 P.2d 873 (1963); Dakin v. Dakin, 62 Wn.2d 687, 384 P.2d 639 (1963); Hogberg v. Hogberg, 64 Wn.2d 617, 393 P.2d 291 (1964); Berg v. Berg, 72 Wn.2d 532, 434 P.2d 1 (1967); and Mose v. Mose, 4 Wn. App. 204, 480 P.2d 517 (1971).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In re Marriage of Olsen, 24 Wn. App. 292, 300, 600 P.2d 690 (1979) ("It is the public policy of this state to require an unemployed spouse to...become self-supporting"); In re Marriage of Irwin, 64 Wn. App. 38, 55, 822 P.2d 797, review denied, 119 Wn.2d 1009 (1992) ("The purpose of spousal maintenance is to support a spouse ... until she is able to earn her own living or otherwise become self-supporting."); In re Marriage of Rouleau, 36 Wn. App. 129, 132, 672 P.2d 756 (1983) ("[T]he law in Washington mandates that a party seeking maintenance must demonstrate a need for support."); In re Marriage of Mathews, 70 Wn. App. 116, 124, 853 P.2d 462, 467 (1993) (reversing long-term maintenance after 24-year marriage because the requesting spouse received enough property and income from her part-time job "to help meet her needs."); In re Marriage of Luckey, 73 Wn. App. 201, 209, 868 P.2d 189 (1994) ("The purpose of spousal maintenance is to support a spouse, typically the wife, until she is able to earn her own living or otherwise becomes self-supporting."); In re Marriage of Foley, 84 Wn. App. 839, 845-46, 930 P.2d 929 (1997) ("In determining spousal maintenance, the court is governed strongly by the need

Division III waved this case law aside. In fact, it took the extraordinary step of limiting this Court's holding in *Kelso*, ruling that it "holds precedential value only with regard to RCW 26.09.090's factor concerning the requesting spouse's need" because it predated the 1973 Dissolution Act. Amended op. at 15. Division III wrote, "As the *Kelso* court was required to consider the requesting spouse's need, one may properly rely on *Kelso* as authority when it comes to RCW's 26.09.090's factor regarding the requesting spouse's need." *Id*.

But this is simply not true. Cases from this Court like

\_

of one party and the ability of the other party to pay an award."); In re Marriage of Valente, 179 Wn. App. 817, 825, 320 P.3d 115 (2014) (a maintenance award "must be based on necessity") (discussing Rouleau); Matter of Marriage of Rookard, 20 Wn. App. 2d 1031, 2021 WL 5902900, \*4 (2021) (citing, e.g., Mose); Matter of Marriage of McMaster, 21 Wn. App. 2d 1016, 2022 WL 683112, \*4 (2022) ("When the requesting spouse has the ability to earn a living, long-term maintenance is unwarranted" because a "primary" objective of maintenance is to help the requesting spouse "get on [his or her] feet") (quotation omitted) (citing, e.g., Endres).

*Kelso* have never been overruled or so limited. This Court has made it clear that "binding precedent" will not be overruled "sub silentio." *Broom v. Morgan Stanley DW Inc.*, 169 Wn.2d 231, 238, 236 P.3d 182 (2010).

Division II recently came to the *exact opposite conclusion* of Division III, holding in Matter of Marriage of Skidmore, 26 Wn. App. 2d 1009, 2023 WL 2768982, \*6 (2023), that pre-1973 cases like Berg, 72 Wn.2d 532 and Hoberg, 64 Wn.2d 617, have not been overruled. According to Division II, they are "binding precedent" for the notion that spousal support is limited by need and awarded only to allow the requesting party to become selfsupporting. This is a classic case warranting review from this Court to clarify whether the public policy espoused by cases like *Kelso* that maintenance be tied to need still exists, as many other courts have said that it does. RAP 13.4(b)(1). This Court, not Division III, should define the extent to which its prior cases still hold precedential value.

Also, from a practical matter, Division III's limitation on

cases like *Kelso* also makes no sense. *Kelso states*, "Unless there is need there should be no [spousal maintenance]. That is the public policy in this state." *Kelso*, 75 Wn.2d at 27. How can that clear directive, that has guided courts for over half a century, be limited to RCW's 26.09.090(1)'s first factor, which also requires modern courts to consider a requesting spouse's need for maintenance? The Legislature knew that need was a primary factor, listing it first among a group of nonexclusive factors for the court's use when evaluating "just awards," which are limited by case law in Washington. Division III's outlier opinion only creates more confusion.

This Court should grant review to resolve the conflicts created by Division III's opinion. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). Division III lacks the authority to limit this Court's holdings, which this Court has never overturned. Each Division of the Court of Appeals has cited Supreme Court cases like *Kelso*, since the Dissolution Act was enacted, showing that the public policy of this that requires a showing of need for maintenance is good

law. Supra n.7.

A court must use this tapestry of case law when interpreting and awarding maintenance under RCW 26.09.090. After all, the Legislature is presumed to be "familiar with judicial" interpretations of statutes," and has never overruled these interpretations limiting maintenance awards. thereby acquiescing to this common law. See, e.g., State v. Ervin, 169 Wn.2d 815, 825, 239 P.3d 354 (2010) (discussing legislative acquiescence). Division III's outlier opinion punches a hole in that tapestry of common law, creating conflicts that this Court should correct. RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). As Division III highlighted in its opinion, the "vague standards" for awarding maintenance clamor for clarification from this Court. Review is warranted.

(2) <u>Division III's Holding that "Equalizing" Future</u>
<u>Income Is Appropriate Using Spousal Maintenance</u>
<u>Creates Additional Conflicts with Published</u>
Precedent

Aside from rewriting this Court's precedent and ignoring

well-developed case law on the purpose of spousal maintenance and the requirement that it be need based, Division III created other conflicts in law, showing that clarity from this Court is necessary to resolve the "vague standards" for spousal maintenance awards.

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