# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/19/2023 1:46 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

# COURT OF APPEALS NO. 38790-9-III SUPREME COURT NO. 1024011

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### MATTHEW E. WILCOX

Plaintiff / Appellant

v.

MARINA PALOMAREZ (fka Wilcox)

Defendant / Respondent

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Raymond G. Alexander, WSBA #14592 Halverson | Northwest Law Group P.C. 405 East Lincoln Avenue Yakima, WA 98901 Telephone: (509) 248-6030

Facsimile: (509) 453-6880 ralexander@hnw.law

# **

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

# V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

(1) <u>Citation to Unpublished Court of Appeals</u>
<u>Decisions Do Not Fall within any Applicable</u>
<u>Standard for Review.</u>

Wilcox cites four unpublished Court of Appeals decisions on pages 17, 18 and 24 of his Petition for Review. Lodwig & Lodwig, 8 Wn. App. 2d 1017, 2019 WL 1423678 (2019); Matter of Marriage of McMaster, 21 Wn. App. 2d 1016, 2022 WL 683112 (2022); Matter of Marriage of Rookard, 20 Wn. App. 2d 1031, 2021 WL 5902900 (2021); and Matter of Marriage of Skidmore, 26 Wn. App. 2d 1009, 2023 WL 2768982 (2023). Since these unpublished decisions do not fall within any applicable standard for review under RAP 13.4(b), they should not be considered.

(2) The Decision of Division III is not in Conflict with a Decision of the Supreme Court or a Published Decision of the Court of Appeals.

Once a court makes a finding on the income of each party, the court is required to consider all relevant factors, including but not limited to, the six (6) factors specified in RCW 26.09.090(1) before making a maintenance award it

deems just. *In re Marriage of Anthony*, 9 Wn. App. 2d 555, 563, 446 P.3d 635 (2019). RCW 26.09.090 does not assign additional importance to one statutory factor as opposed to another. *In re Marriage of Marzetta*, 129 Wn. App. 607,625, 120 P.3d 75 (2005). As stated in RCW 26.09.090(1), if a court orders maintenance, the maintenance "shall be in such amounts and for such periods of time as the court deems just, without regard to misconduct, *after considering all relevant factors including but not limited to*" the six non-exclusive factors listed in RCW 26.09.090(1)(a)-(f).

Further, *In re Marriage of Washburn*, 101 Wn. 2d 168, 179, 677 P.2d 152 (1984) reiterated that when "making an equitable property division or awarding maintenance, a trial court exercises broad discretionary powers. Its disposition will not be overturned on appeal absent a showing of manifest abuse of discretion." "While the trial court must consider the factors listed in RCW 26.09.090(1), it is not required to make specific factual findings on all of the factors. *In re Marriage of Anthony*, Id. at 564, citing *In re Marriage of Mansour*, 126 Wn.

App. 1, 16, 106 P.3d 768 (2004). Nor is a court limited to assessing a minimum amount of maintenance to pay monthly expenses. *In re Marriage of Barnett*, 63, Wn. App. 385,388,818 P2d 1382 (1991).

Instead, "under the extremely flexible provisions of RCW 26.09.090, a demonstrated capacity of self-support does not automatically preclude an award of maintenance. Indeed, the ability of the spouse seeking maintenance to meet needs independently is only *one* factor to be considered. RCW 26.09.090(1)(a). The duration of the marriage and the standard of living established during the marriage must also be considered, making it clear that maintenance is not just a means of providing bare necessities, but rather a flexible tool by which the parties' standard of living may be equalized for an appropriate period of time. RCW 26.09.090(1)(c), (d)." *In re Marriage of Washburn, Id.* at 178-179.

"The future earning capabilities of the wife, if that spouse has no other means of support, represent one of the important concerns of the courts in divorce cases, and must be considered in comparison to those of her husband." *Stacy v. Stacy*, 68 Wn. 2d 573, 576, 414 P.2d 791 (1966). Where there is great disparity regarding the earning power and potential between spouses in a long-term marriage, maintenance may be used to counter the post-dissolution economic disparity between them, which is a paramount concern of the court. *In re Marriage of Sheffer*, 60 Wn. App. 51, 56, 802 P.2d 817 (1990). *In re Marriage of Bulicek*, 59 Wn. App. 630, 635, 800 P.2d 394 (1990).

Wilcox challenges the trial court's spousal maintenance award on the non-exclusive factor of need. (Keep in mind Wilcox did not challenge the original trial court's findings on need). While financial need is one of several non-exclusive factors to be considered, financial need is not a prerequisite to awarding maintenance. *In re Marriage of Wright*, 179 Wn. App. 257,269, 319 P.3d 45 (2013) *review denied*, 180 Wn.2d 1016, *review denied*, 186 Wn.2d 1017 (2013); *In re Marriage of Kaplan*, 4 Wn. App. 2d 466, 482, 421 P.3d 1046 (2018); *In* 

re Marriage of Bulicek, 59 Wn. App. 630, 800 P.2d 394 (1990). Need is only one of six non-exclusive factors a court is required to consider in deciding to award maintenance under the 1973 Marriage Dissolution Act. RCW 29.09.090. Appellant cites several cases in support of his position, like Hogberg v. Hogberg, 64 Wn.2d 617, 393 P.2d 291 (1964), and Dakin v. Dakin, 62 Wn.2d 687, 384 P.2d 639 (1963). However, those cases were decided prior to the 1973 Marriage Dissloution Act which broadened the factors a court was required to consider.

Wilcox cites *In re Marriage of Valente*, 179 Wn. App. 817, 320 P.3d 115 (2014) where the wife was awarded \$3.7 million in assets. On appeal, even though Husband argued there was no need, the court upheld 17 years of spousal maintenance reversing only what it found to be an impermissible \$100 per month lifetime placeholder maintenance award the trial court was using to retain jurisdiction. *Id.* at 827.

Wilcox repeatedly cites *In re Marriage of Rouleau*, 36 Wn. App. 129, 672 P.2d 756 (1983). The <u>only</u> issue before the

Rouleau court involved a lifetime placeholder maintenance award. But instead of the impermissible placeholder award being \$100 per month as in *Valenti*, it was only \$1 per year. *In re Marriage of Rouleau, Id.* at 131.

Kelso v. Kelso, 75 Wn. 2d 24, 448 P.2d 499 (1968) is a decision by this Court prior to the enactment of the 1973 Marriage Dissolution Act. However, this Court made it clear after enactment of the 1973 Marriage Dissolution Act, that a demonstrated capacity of self-support does not preclude an award of maintenance. In re Marriage of Washburn, Id. at 178. Rather, maintenance is "a flexible tool by which the parties standard of living may be equalized for an appropriate period of time." Id. at 179.

Wilcox argues on page 9 of his Petition for Review that Palomarez documented little to no need claiming she made around \$2,700 and had monthly expenses of \$3,000. As discussed above, need is not a prerequisite to awarding maintenance. Further, Palomarez's income was found to be \$2,500 per month gross, not \$2,700 net as Wilcox appears to

imply. CP 68. Wilcox's attempt to use her slightly increased income almost three years later when Palomarez was requesting fees on appeal is not appropriate. Nor did Wilcox provide any income information on the business after 2017. CP 329, 668. Further, unlike Wilcox, Palomarez filed a Financial Declaration as an exhibit in the original trial to show the need she had which was reviewed by the trial court. Exs. 43, 53.49. Palomarez also filed her 2018 W-2, current paystubs and her Social Security Statement, all of which were before the original trial court. Ex. 53.49, 53.16-18.

On the other hand, Wilcox did not provide a Financial Declaration at trial in January of 2019, nor any evidence on how the business was doing at any time after 2017. Nor did Wilcox file a Social Security Statement of his estimated benefits upon retirement so they could be compared with those of Palomarez.

Wilcox cites *In re Marriage of Mathews*, 70 Wn. App, 116, 124, 853 P.2d 462 (1973) in footnote 7 on page 16 of his Petition for Review claiming that court reversed long-tern

maintenance after a 24-year marriage because the requesting spouse had enough property and income "to help meet her needs." That is not an accurate representation of the decision. The Mathews court reversed the maintenance award and remanded it back because the maintenance award did not evidence a fair consideration of the statutory factors. *Id.* at 123. The trial court awarded the requesting spouse maintenance of \$1,400 per month payable until death, remarriage, or upon obtaining full-time gainful employment. This amount was already half of the payor spouse's net income of \$2,800 a month. The trial court also required payment of the requesting spouse's medical insurance premiums and education expenses which left the payor spouse with only \$1,000 a month and the requesting spouse with \$1,855 a month. *Id.* at 123. Further, the trial court's award did not take into consideration a reduction in maintenance when the payor spouse retires. And since the trial court already awarded the requesting spouse one-half of the payor spouse's retirement income by QDRO, the maintenance order would require payment from the payor

spouse's already equally divided retirement (or disability income) which was held to be clear error. *Id.* at 124-125.

Contrary to Wilcox's claim on page 4 of his Petition for Review, Palomarez did not work "for nearly the entire marriage". Palomarez stayed home for basically eight years by agreement to take care of their daughter Victoria (1997-2004), and then part time for another three years after that (2005-2007). Ex. 53.18 (Social Security Statement), CP 336-37. It was not until 2008, the same year the parties purchased Premier Power Sports, that Palomarez substantially increased her work hours to the level that existed prior to the birth of their child. It was for this reason among others, that Social Security will likely pay Palomarez less than \$1,000 per month extrapolated at age 65 (when maintenance ends), because age 65 is two years earlier than her full retirement age of 67 for Social Security purposes. Ex. 53.18. At age 67, Palomarez will receive about \$1,095 per month from Social Security, but if she chooses age 62, it will only be about \$751 a month. And contrary to the claim of Wilcox, the spousal maintenance

award is not perpetual and will not put Palomarez on any similar financial position as Wilcox for the rest of their lives. At age 65, if not terminated earlier by marriage, all maintenance will cease for Palomarez, and her Social Security will likely pay her less than \$1,000 per month at age 65. On the other hand, Wilcox's plans to continue running this business for another 15 to 20 years would have Wilcox working up to six years after his maintenance obligation ceases. CP 80. Further, Wilcox will without question receive Social Security several times larger than Palomarez given his reported earnings as shown on the tax returns, the specific amount of which we don't know because he did not provide such information to the trial court.

Contrary to the claim of Wilcox on footnote 3 at the bottom of page 5 of his Petition for Review, his acquiring a new franchise was not what lead to a significant jump in his business and personal revenue in 2015. The significant jump in revenue was because the business was rebounding from the Great Recession of 2008. Wilcox testified about the

devastating effect of the recession on their business. According to Wilcox, the business struggled immensely from the time it was purchased in 2008 through September 2014 due to the economic downturn. CP 186-87. Wilcox described the economic downturn as causing the secondary lending market to dry up for non-essential recreational equipment like that sold by Premier Power Sports. CP 188-89. Division III described the growth of the parties' business completely contrary to Wilcox's assertion:

"Here, the couple's business grew appreciably as the economy rebounded from the Great Recession. Corporate income in tax year 2011 was \$6,329 and was \$75,787 in 2013. Exs. 1, 3. The corporate tax returns for the years 2014-2017 when the business elected to be an S corporation showed the business making between \$52,917 (2014) and \$192,760 (2016). Exs. 6, 12."

*In re Marriage of Palomarez*, 15 Wn. App.187, 192, 475 P. 3<sup>rd</sup> 512 (2020).

The addition of the new Husqvarna franchise in 2015 was immaterial to the success of the parties' business that year.

Total gross sales of the new Husqvarna franchise in 2015 were

only \$36,339 out of total sales of almost \$3 million (\$2,995,095) or just over one percent of gross sales. CP 318, Ex. 53.9. The original trial court found the financial impact of the new franchise on the second half of 2015 was likely nominal. CP 750. Yet, 2015 was a great year for the parties' business as Wilcox admitted. CP 194, Ex. 53.7. Business income tripled from 2014 to 2015. The business made \$52,917 in 2014 and tripled to \$158,761 in 2015. CP 780. With the business valued as of June 30, 2015, Palomarez is not going to share in the standard of living their community business would finally generate after the effects of the Great Recession ceased.

Wilcox claims the decision of Division III is in conflict with *In re Marriage of Anglin*, 52, Wn. App. 317, 759 P.2d 1224 (1998). *Marriage of Anglin* has nothing to do with maintenance and is not in conflict with Division III. *Id.* at 317.

When you consider the post-dissolution economic positions of the parties in this long-term marriage, there is no comparison between them. Wilcox makes 5.2 times the income of Palomarez. (\$156,000 divided by \$30,000 = 5.2). Wilcox

will be earning \$10,500 more each month than Palomarez. (\$13,000 - \$2,500 = \$10,500). Palomarez will never enjoy the same or similar standard of living to that of Wilcox when he is making \$10,500 more each month that Palomarez from their community business. It must also be keep in mind that when the business pays Wilcox's personal expenses as a business expense like his truck, or barters to trade goods/services of the business as Wilcox does for personal debts he owes, Wilcox is not taxed on that income. Ex. 53.1, Schedule C, Ex. 53.39; CP 198. It is also important to note Wilcox does not argue or complain once he is not able to pay the support ordered. To the contrary, Wilcox is financially set with the community business he was awarded, and his silence on his own financial situation is clear proof of that fact.

The decision of Division III is not in conflict with established precedent.

# V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Marina Palomarez respectfully requests this Court to deny review.

This document contains 4,744 words, excluding parts of the document exempted from the word court by RAP 18.17.

DATED this // day of October 2023

HALVERSON | NORTHWEST Law Group P.C. Attorneys for Respondent Marina Palomarez

Raymond G. Alexander, WSBA No